**RECEIVED**

**Mar 04 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001012  
Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-23-056246

---

Chris Williams, .....Appellant,

v.

applya Occupational Strategies, LLC, Felix Mirando,  
Tom Baumgarten, and Andrew Garnock, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

BURR & FORMAN LLP  
John F. Connell, Jr., SC Bar #101701  
104 South Main Street, Suite 700  
Greenville, South Carolina 29601  
(864) 271-4940  
Attorneys for Appellant Chris Williams

**

**STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The Circuit Court Did Not Apply the Correct Standard of Review for a Motion for Summary Judgment, Nor for Ascertaining the General Assembly's Intent.
- II. The Circuit Court Erred in Concluding Williams' Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus Due Upon Termination were Not for Services Rendered in the Past.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from the unlawful termination of Chris Williams (“**Williams**”) as the Chief Executive Officer of applya Occupational Strategies, LLC (“**applya**”), and applya’s refusal to pay Williams’ salary and non-discretionary bonus owed pursuant to his employment agreement. Since his tenure began on April 1, 2018, Williams earned numerous stock options, bonuses, and annual raises, in addition to his salary. At no point during Williams’ employment did applya communicate problems or concerns with Williams’ performance. In fact, due to Williams’ successful performance as the CEO, applya extended Williams’ term of employment in July 2020 by way of an amendment to his employment agreement.

In August 2022, applya was struggling financially from gross under-capitalization and, as a result, Williams suggested to applya and its former owners and members of applya’s Board of Directors, Felix Mirando and Tom Baumgarten, (collectively, “**Respondents**”), and Andrew Garnock<sup>1</sup> that he take a different role within applya to focus on business development and reduce some of the financial strain on the company. In response, applya’s owners requested additional information from Williams about his proposal to change roles within the company. Exactly one week after applya sought additional information, and while Williams was gathering the information, applya issued a no-confidence vote finding that “good cause” existed under the employment agreement to terminate Williams’ employment. Two weeks later, applya terminated Williams’ employment.

---

<sup>1</sup> Although a named defendant and former member of the Board, Garnock did not join in applya, Mirando, and Baumgarten’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and is therefore not named as a Respondent in this Appeal. Felix Mirando, Tom Baumgarten, and Andrew Garnock, were the owners and members of applya’s Board of Directors. applya officially closed its doors on December 31, 2023. (**R. p. 77, lines 19-21**).

Applya's pre-meditated "good cause" finding was integral in avoiding the requirement that applya remit to Williams his salary and non-discretionary bonus owed upon termination. In particular, Williams' employment agreement required applya to remit to Williams an amount equal to two years of his current salary and a non-discretionary bonus, four weeks of vacation, and several other benefits upon termination "without Cause." However, in order to avoid paying Williams the salary and non-discretionary bonus that were due to him, applya declared that Williams was terminated for "good cause," which provided an avenue to refuse payment. Williams disputes that applya had "good cause" to terminate his employment, and asserts that applya owes Williams his salary and non-discretionary bonus under the terms of the employment agreement.

Williams brought several claims against Respondents and Andrew Garnock related to his unlawful termination, including breach of contract, breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act, piercing the corporate veil, and violation of the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 41-10-10, *et seq.* (the "Act"). Under his Payment of Wages claim, Williams seeks remittance of his salary and non-discretionary bonus owed to him by applya upon his termination. If Williams is successful on his Payment of Wages claim, applya's owners would also be individually liable to Williams for these monies, and Williams would be entitled to recover treble damages plus attorneys' fees and costs against Respondents and Garnock.

Respondents moved the circuit court for partial summary judgment on Williams' Payment of Wages claim seeking to classify Williams' salary and non-discretionary bonus owed to him upon termination as not "wages" under the Act. After reviewing legal memoranda from the parties and presiding over a hearing, the circuit court granted partial summary judgment to Respondents on the basis that Williams' salary and non-discretionary bonus due upon termination were not "wages" under the Act.

As addressed in more detail below, the circuit court not only misapprehended the relevant provisions of the Act—noting that the law may be “subject to another interpretation”—and misinterpreted South Carolina Supreme Court precedent, the circuit court also did not conduct the necessary analysis to resolve what it termed a “questionable” application of the law to the facts. Accordingly, this court should reverse the circuit court’s order granting partial summary judgment.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

### **I. Employment Agreement**

On April 1, 2018, Williams entered into an employment agreement (the “**Employment Agreement**”) with applya for the position of Chief Executive Officer. (**R. pp. 28-43**). Pursuant to the Employment Agreement, applya agreed to pay Williams an annual salary of \$250,000, with an agreed upon annual increase of \$25,000 on each anniversary (the “**Salary**”). (**R. p. 30**). In addition to his Salary, applya also agreed to pay Williams an annual non-discretionary bonus equal to 2.0% percent of the annual Operating Income of applya (the “**Non-Discretionary Bonus**”). (**R. p. 30**).

In consideration for the services rendered during his employment, applya agreed to continue to pay Williams his Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus for a period of two years in the event applya terminated Williams’ employment “without Cause.”<sup>2</sup> (**R. p. 32**). In particular, Section 6.4 of the Employment Agreement sets forth the following:

#### 6.4 Termination of Compensation.

- (a) Except as otherwise required by non-waivable provisions of applicable law, in the event that either **Employee’s employment is terminated by the Board without Cause** or by Employee with Good Reason (in each case excluding such Employee’s death or Disability), the **Company shall upon such termination be required to continue to pay to Employee his salary, bonus pursuant to Section 3.2(a) hereof** and all other benefits and perquisites hereunder for **two years** thereafter and to accelerate all unvested Options to vest.

---

<sup>2</sup> For purposes of this appeal, it is presumed that Mr. Williams was terminated without Cause.

- (b) In the event the Employee's Employment is terminated by the Board with Cause or by Employee without Good Reason, the Company shall not be required to continue to pay Employee Employee's Salary, any bonus not theretofore awarded shall be deemed forfeited by Employee, and all unvested Options shall immediately terminate, be deemed forfeited by Employee and be of no further force or effect.

**(R. p. 32)** (emphasis added). Williams successfully performed his role as Chief Executive Officer at applya for several years. On July 15, 2020, based on his strong performance with applya, Williams and applya executed an amendment to the Employment Agreement that extended Williams' employment term and provided Williams with additional benefits ("**Amendment to the Employment Agreement**"). **(R. pp. 45-47)**.<sup>3</sup>

## **II. Unlawful Termination of Employment with applya**

Problems with Williams' compensation started after 2020. For example at the end of 2020, applya had an annual Operating Income of approximately \$2,800,000.00. **(R. p. 20, ¶ 20)**. Under the Employment Agreement, this entitled Williams to a Non-Discretionary Bonus in the amount of \$56,000.00 in January 2021. **(R. p. 20, ¶ 20)**. **(R. p. 30, Section 3.2)**. However, Williams never received the Non-Discretionary Bonus he was owed. By way of another example, during the course and scope of his employment as the Chief Executive Officer for applya, Williams incurred business expenses totaling approximately \$21,000. **(R. p. 21, ¶ 21)**. Williams sought reimbursement from applya for these expenses in accordance with the Employment Agreement, but applya never reimbursed Williams. **(R. p. 21, ¶ 21; R. p. 22, ¶ 28)**.

On August 16, 2022, Williams approached Respondents and expressed an interest in moving into a new position with applya. **(R. p. 21, ¶ 22)**. Principally, Williams proposed to Respondents that they allow him to step down from the CEO role and take on roles for applya

---

<sup>3</sup> The Amendment to Employment Agreement did not alter, amend, or delete Section 6.4 of the Employment Agreement.

related to technology and business development. **(R. p. 16-52)**. Williams informed Respondents that the reason, in part, for this request was that Williams sought to reduce costs and eliminate the company's current selling, general, and administrative expenses. **(R. p. 16-52)**. On September 15, 2022, Williams emailed Respondents and reiterated his request to move into a new role with applya. **(R. p. 21, ¶ 24; R. pp. 138-141)**. Within the email, Williams provided several items for applya to consider including, but not limited to, amending the Employment Agreement to properly address his new role. **(R. pp. 138-141)**.

On September 22, 2022, Respondents replied to Williams' email and sought "further clarification / comments with some of [Williams'] proposals." **(R. p. 21, ¶ 24; R. pp. 48-52)**. Seven days later, while Williams was in the process of providing a response, Respondents, in an about-face, emailed Williams stating that Respondents had issued a no-confidence vote pertaining to Williams' employment and that "good cause" existed to terminate Williams' employment. **(R. p. 22, ¶ 26; R. p. 143)**. This was the first time Williams had received any communication or indication that Respondents did not have confidence in Williams' ability to lead applya and allegedly "good cause" existed to terminate his employment. **(R. p. 22, ¶ 27)**. By this time, applya's financial struggles resulting from Respondents' gross under-capitalization of the business had become evident. In a coy effort to shield themselves from liability and hide behind a defunct company, Respondents fabricated "good cause" to terminate Williams' employment to avoid paying Williams the wages he was owed upon termination. Two weeks later, on October 14, 2022, Respondents unlawfully terminated Williams' employment. **(R. p. 22, ¶ 29)**.

Williams vehemently denies that he was terminated from his employment with "good cause," contending that he was terminated "without Cause" and is, therefore, entitled to two years

of his Salary,<sup>4</sup> two years of Non-Discretionary Bonus, and two years of Williams’ other benefits under the Employment Agreement. Williams contends that applya fabricated “good cause” to terminate his Employment Agreement in an effort to fraudulently avoid paying Williams the wages the parties negotiated and agreed upon.

### **III. Procedural History**

Williams commenced this action on November 14, 2022, asserting causes of actions for (i) violations of the Act, (ii) piercing the corporate veil, (iii) breach of contract, and (iv) breach of contract accompanied by fraudulent act against Respondents and Garnock for Williams’ unlawful termination. (**R. pp. 16-52**). Williams seeks, in pertinent part, actual and treble damages for Respondents’ willful retention of his wages, including two years of his Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus that were due upon termination pursuant to the Employment Agreement, as well as attorneys’ fees and costs. (**R. pp. 16-52**). Respondents filed their Answer to Williams’ Complaint on December 15, 2022, denying any wrongdoing and asserting counterclaims for breach of contract, breach of duty of loyalty, breach of fiduciary duties, and conversion alleging that Williams did not devote all of his business time into applya and that Williams sought reimbursement for unreasonable expenses. (**R. pp. 53-67**).

On December 1, 2023,<sup>5</sup> Respondents filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment<sup>6</sup> seeking “an Order from the Court limiting the potential damages recoverable pursuant to the South

---

<sup>4</sup> Williams’ current annual salary at this time was \$350,000.00; thus, applya was required to pay Williams \$700,000.00, equaling two years of his current annual salary. (**R. p. 22, ¶ 30**).

<sup>5</sup> Thirty (30) days after filing their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, Applya permanently closed its business on December 31, 2023. (**R. p. 77, lines 19–21**).

<sup>6</sup> At the time Respondents filed their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, discovery was not complete. Although the parties have engaged in written discovery, no depositions have been conducted to date.

Carolina Payment of Wages Act.”<sup>7</sup> (**R. p. 85**). On January 2, 2024, Respondents filed a Memorandum in Support of their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment contending that Williams’ claim for damages relating to his Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus were not “wages” as that term is defined under the Act and, therefore, Williams could not recover treble damages and attorneys’ fees as a result of Respondents’ failure to pay Williams the amounts due under the Employment Agreement. (**R. pp. 85-90**). The crux of Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment relied on the argument that because Williams’ Employment Agreement established that his Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus were to “continue to be” paid upon his termination for a period of two years into the future, Williams’ Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus were “future wages” and, thus, not covered under the Act. (**R. p. 89**).

On January 5, 2024, Williams filed his Memorandum in Opposition to Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on the basis that summary judgment was not proper because Williams’ Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus were only owed and due to him upon termination of the Employment Agreement. (**R. pp. 107-148**). As a result, Williams’ Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus could only arise out of the services he previously performed for applya during his employment and were therefore not “future wages.” (**R. pp. 107-148**). On January 8, 2024, the circuit court held a hearing, and on January 10, 2024, the court entered a Form 4 Order Granting Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and requested Respondents’ counsel to prepare a formal order. (**R. pp. 3-5**). On January 16, 2024, the court entered a Formal

---

<sup>7</sup> Because applya is defunct, Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment sought to bar Williams’ sole remaining avenue of recovery: the individual liability against its former owners, Felix Mirando and Tom Baumgarten, for violating the Act. *See Dumas v. InfoSafe.*, 320 S.C. 188, 195, 463 S.E.2d 641, 645 (Ct. App. 1995) (“[W]e hold the legislature intended to impose individual liability on agents or officers of a corporation who knowingly permit their corporation to violate the Act.”).

Order granting Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (**R. pp. 6-12**). On January 24, 2024, Williams filed a Motion to Reconsider along with his Memorandum in Support. (**R. pp. 149-166**). On January 31, 2024, Respondents filed their Memorandum in Opposition. (**R. pp. 167-170**). On May 14, 2024, the circuit court denied Williams Motion to Reconsider. (**R. pp. 13-15**). Thereafter, Williams filed a Notice of Appeal with the circuit court and this Court on June 12, 2024. (**R. pp. 171-182**).

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

“Even if there is no dispute as to the evidentiary facts, summary judgment is not appropriate where there is a dispute as to a conclusion to be drawn from those facts and to clarify the application of the law.” *Mayer v. M.S. Bailey & Son*, 347 S.C. 353, 358, 555 S.E.2d 406, 408 (Ct. App. 2001) (emphasis added) (citing *Tupper v. Dorchester Cty.*, 325 S.C. 318, 325, 487 S.E.2d 187, 191 (1997)). “Summary judgment is appropriate only where it is **perfectly clear** that no genuine issue of fact is involved and inquiry into the facts is not desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Hook v. Rothstein*, 275 S.C. 187, 189, 268 S.E.2d 288, 289 (1980) (emphasis added). “All ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising from the evidence must be constructed **most strongly** against the movant.” *Tupper*, 325 S.C. at 326, 487 S.E.2d at 191 (emphasis added) (citing *Baugus v. Wessigner*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991)).

“When the circuit court grants summary judgment on a question of law, [this Court] review[s] the ruling de novo.” *Vista Del Mar Condo. Ass’n v. Vista Del Mar Condos., LLC*, 441 S.C. 223, 232, 892 S.E.2d 532, 537 (Ct. App. 2023) (quoting *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners’ Ass’n v. Clear View Constr., LLC*, 413 S.C. 615, 620, 776 S.E.2d 426, 429 (Ct. App. 2015)). Appellate courts apply the same standard as circuit courts when reviewing a grant of summary judgment. *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 432 S.C. 267, 275, 851 S.E.2d 724, 729 (Ct. App. 2020) (quoting *David v. McLeod Reg’l Med. Ctr.*, 367 S.C. 242, 247, 626 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2006)).

“[The appellate court is] **free to decide a question of law with no particular deference to the circuit court.**” *Catawba Indian Tribe of South Carolina v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007) (emphasis added).

### **ARGUMENT**

The issues before this Court on appeal are exceptionally narrow. Respondents’ Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and the circuit court’s Formal Order focused solely on the issue of whether Williams’ Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus due upon termination were “wages” covered under the Act. The circuit court did not decide whether Williams was in fact terminated with or without Cause, nor does this Court need to make such a determination. This Court simply needs to determine whether the circuit court erred as a matter of law in finding that Williams’ Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus due upon termination are not “wages” covered under the Act. In appealing the circuit court’s ruling, Williams asserts that the Formal Order suffers from procedural errors related to the standard of review applied by the circuit court, as well as substantive errors in the circuit court’s application of the relevant provisions of the Act. For each and all of these reasons more fully explained below, Williams respectfully requests the Court to reverse the Formal Order granting partial summary judgment to Respondents.

#### **I. The Circuit Court Did Not Correctly Apply the Standard of Review for a Motion for Summary Judgment, Nor for Ascertaining the General Assembly’s Intent.**

In granting partial summary judgment to Respondents on the issue of whether Williams’ Salary and Non-Discretionary Bonus due upon termination are “wages” covered under the Act, the circuit court stated the following in its Formal Order:

In reaching this conclusion, the Court contends that while the language in Section 41-10-10 et. seq. (the “Act”) **may be subject to another interpretation**, the Court believes that it is **questionable** as to whether the General Assembly intended for the Act to apply to the facts in this case. To the contrary, the Court believes the purpose of the Act is to pay wages for services rendered in the past and not the future, and the wages sought here are for future wages not covered by the Act. As

such, the Court determines as a matter of law that the Plaintiff is unable to seek these specific damages under his claim for violation of the Wage Payment Act, and instead, can only seek recovery for labor rendered, if any.

**(R. p. 11)** (emphasis added). The circuit court’s findings are incorrect for several reasons. First, summary judgment is only appropriate if the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Here, the Order states that the law “may be subject to another interpretation” and it is “questionable” whether the Act should apply to the facts in this case, indicating that the Court was not clear on whether Respondents were entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Second, the circuit court questioned as to what the General Assembly intended in the Act, but did not engage in the required components of statutory construction to ascertain the legislative intent. Instead, the circuit court summarily and without explanation stated its own “belief” about the purpose of the Act and granted partial summary judgment to Respondents on that basis.

*a. Summary Judgment Was Improper Because the Application of the Law to the Facts Was Unclear*

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