RECEIVED

Mar 04 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

G.D. Morgan, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Circuit Court Case No. 2022-CP-23-06246 and
Appellate Case No. 2024-001012

Chris Williams Appellant,

v.

applya Occupational Strategies, LLC, Felix Mirando
Tom Baumgarten, and Andrew Garnock..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Adam C. Bach
(S.C. Bar # 74885)
TONNSEN BACH, LLC
1306 South Church Street
Greenville, SC 29605
Telephone: (864) 236-5013
Facsimile: (864) 312-4191
abach@tonnsenbach.com
Appellate Attorneys for Respondents

Fred W. "Trey" Suggs III
(S.C. Bar #70222)

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT APPELLANT IS PROHIBITED FROM RECOVERY UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA WAGE PAYMENT ACT BECAUSE THE PAYMENTS ARE NOT WAGES FOR LABOR RENDERED

Appellant begins their brief by correctly stating that the “issues before this Court are exceptionally narrow.” App. Brief at 12. Resolution of these exceptionally narrow issues can be achieved by straightforward interpretation of the Employment Agreement and the Wage Payment Act. Appellant and Respondents agree “wages” under the Act does not encompass unearned, future wages. App. Brief 17-18 (“Accordingly, the Supreme Court deemed these unearned wages as ‘prospective wages,’ which are not covered by the Act.”); see also, App Brief at 19. Given the Supreme Court’s clear articulation of this principle in Mathis v. Brown & Brown of South

Carolina, Inc., 389 S.C. 299, 698 S.E.2d 773 (2010) it would be surprising if either party argued that future, prospective wages were covered and Appellant does not do so here.

But Appellant makes two errors in discussing the Order and the relevant statutory and case law. First, Appellant tries to shoehorn contractual remedies and damages into compensation for services rendered so that he can claim these sums as wages and seek to recover against individual defendants, a goal about which Appellant is candid. App. Brief at p. 10, fn 7. Second, Appellant's discussion of case law and the Act leaves out the central language to the circuit court's decision – the meaning of the word “due.” When the Employment Agreement and statute are read consistent with the rules of contract and statutory interpretation, it is clear the circuit court correctly granted summary judgment and should be affirmed.

The beginning point for determining whether post-termination payments are “wages” is the Employment Agreement. “The law in this state regarding the construction and interpretation of contracts is well settled.” ERIE Ins. Co. v. Winter Const. Co., 393 S.C. 455, 461, 713 S.E.2d 318, 321 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting Conner v. Alvarez, 285 S.C. 97, 101, 328 S.E.2d 334, 336 (1985). “When the language of a contract is clear, explicit, and unambiguous, the language of the contract alone determines the contract's force and effect and the court must construe it according to its plain, ordinary, and popular meaning.” Id., quoting Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 93, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004). “In addition, “[w]here an agreement is clear and capable of legal interpretation, the court's only function is to interpret its lawful meaning, discover the intention of the parties as found within the agreement, and give effect to it.” Id. (citing Heins v. Heins, 344 S.C. 146, 158, 543 S.E.2d 224, 230 (Ct. App. 2001)). Here, the circuit court found that the Employment Agreement was unambiguous, and no party disagreed before the circuit court. See R. pp. 10-11 (“the unambiguous language of [the Employment Agreement] . . .”). Therefore, the

court's job is to construe the Employment Agreement according to its "plain, ordinary and popular meaning," and give effect to the intention of the parties. ERIE Ins. Co. v. Winter Const. Co., 393 S.C. 455, 461, 713 S.E.2d 318, 321 (Ct. App. 2011); Ellie, Inc. v. Miccichi, 358 S.C. 78, 93, 594 S.E.2d 485, 493 (Ct. App. 2004).

The Employment Agreement contains introductory words or phrases to each provision that explain the subject matter of the provision. Appellant's compensation is dealt with in Section 3 of the Employment Agreement, with the topical introduction "Salary and Bonus" and subsections Section 3.1 labeled "Salary," Section 3.2 labeled "Bonus," and Section 3.3 labeled "Stock Options." No part of Section 3 dealing with Appellant's salary, bonus, or other compensation, i.e., his "wages," promises that Appellant will receive two years post-termination salary as part of his wages. Instead, the provisions of the Employment Agreement cited by Appellant are contained in the "Termination" provisions of Section 6 of the Employment Agreement and deal with payments that will be owed to Appellant after termination (the "Termination Provisions").

The Termination Provisions provide clear, easy to understand terms for how post-termination payments will be made and when they are due. According to the Termination Provisions:

"Except as otherwise required...in the event that either Employee's employment is terminated by the Board without cause or by Employee with Good reason...the Company shall upon such termination be required to continue to pay to Employee his salary and bonus pursuant to 3.2(a) hereof and all other benefits and prerequisites hereunder for two years thereafter..."

R. p. 32, ¶ 6.4 (emphasis added). Section 3.1 of the Employment Agreement provides that Appellant's salary is \$250,000.00 per year "payable to Employee in equal installments in accordance with the Company's standard salary payment policies." Thus, a plain reading of the Employment Agreement shows if Appellant had been terminated without cause, the Company had

to “continue to pay” him at his regular pay periods for two years “thereafter,” i.e., after the date of termination.

The Act defines [w]ages as “all amounts at which labor is recompensed...which are due to an employee under any employer policy or employment contract.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-10 (2) (emphasis added). The word “due” was critical to the Supreme Court’s decision in Mathis and to the circuit court’s decision here. As explained by the Supreme Court, “[t]he word ‘due’ means ‘owed or owing as a debt’ and, as wages are defined by the Act, as amounts paid for labor rendered, no wages can be due for future services.” Mathis, 389 S.C. at 318, 698 S.E.2d at 783; see also Das Ventures LLC v. Pure Fishing, Inc., C.A. No. 3:12-cv-596-JFA, 2024 WL 3606921 at *4 (D.S.C. 2024)(Anderson, J) (“Because of the Act’s intentional use of the word ‘due,’ the Supreme Court explained: ‘the word due’ means owed or owing as a debt...”).

The question then is what amount of post-termination payments were “due” to Appellant because of labor rendered on the date of Appellant’s termination? See R. pp. 10-11; Mathis, 389 S.C. at 316, 698 S.E.2d at 782 (“[T]he relevant date for determining whether the employer reasonably withheld wages is the time at which the wages were withheld, i.e., when the employer allegedly violated the Act.”). The answer is nothing. As of the date of termination, nothing was “due” to Appellant pursuant to Section 6.4. Had his termination not been for cause, his next payment pursuant to this provision would have been at applya’s next, regular payroll. These amounts cannot be “wages” under the Act because they were not due as of the date the claim allegedly arose.

As correctly stated by the circuit court, “[t]he unambiguous language [of the Employment Agreement] evidences that the continued payment of two years salary and bonuses post-termination are not wages for labor rendered.” See R. pp. at 10-11. Appellant’s claim that post-

termination payments “must be for services previously rendered,” App. Brief at 19, is not a defensible interpretation of the Employment Agreement. To read the Employment Agreement as Appellant urges, Appellant was actually earning \$500,000.00 per year for his first two years of employment for services rendered, even though the contract expressly states his salary is \$250,000.00 year. This is because, according to Appellant, for each year Appellant earned \$250,000.00 as salary pursuant to Section 3 he was, at the same time, also earning an additional \$250,000.00 per year in post-termination wages through Section 6. An ordinary reader of the Employment Agreement would not understand that the employee was actually earning double the salary recited by Section 3 because of language contained in a separate section dealing with Termination.

But even this interpretation is too generous to Appellant because the Employment Agreement does not contain any “earn-in” for the post-termination payments. Appellant’s claim that post-termination payments “solely derive out of and are in consideration of the services Williams already rendered to apply,” cannot be squared with the actual Termination Provisions. App. Brief at 19. By its plain language, if Appellant had worked only one full day for apply, been terminated without cause the next day, he would still be owed two years’ salary post-termination pursuant to the Employment Agreement. The post-termination payments are contractual compensation or remedies for his potential future loss of earnings during a period of unemployment, not wages for as little as a day of work. Appellant’s “loss” can be addressed through a breach of contract action but not a Wage Payment Act claim.

Appellant also points to the use of the word “forfeit” contained in the Termination Provisions as evidence that his post-termination payments were already earned. App. Brief at 21. The provision cited by Appellant says:

In the event the Employee's Employment is terminated by the Board with Cause or by the Employee without Good Reason, the Company shall not be required to continue to pay Employee's Salary, any bonus not theretofore awarded shall be deemed forfeited by Employee, and all unvested Options shall immediately terminate, be deemed forfeited by Employee, and be of no further force of effect.

See R. p. 32, ¶ 6.4(b). The word "forfeit" in this provision applies to only two things – (1) bonuses Appellant had already earned and (2) granted but unvested stock options. The key words in this clause are the words "not theretofore awarded" and "unvested." A bonus already awarded at the date of termination can only be for services rendered up to the award. Options in the Employment Agreement were awarded upon execution of the agreement and vested based on tenure and performance. See R. p. 32, ¶ 3.3. Unvested options were not compensation because the contingencies required for them to vest had not been met. Said differently, an unvested option under the Employment Agreement was one that had not been "earned" because the conditions to earn it had not been achieved and, following Appellant's termination, could never be achieved. Forfeiture of an unawarded bonus, i.e. future bonus, and forfeiture of unvested options, i.e. not yet earned, does not give rise to a claim under the Act.

The circuit court correctly read the Act and applied it to the Employment Agreement. No post-termination payment was "due" to Appellant as of the date of termination. Any attempt to read the post-termination payments as payments for services already rendered leads to indefensible interpretations of the Employment Agreement – either double pay or that one day of service could be worth half a million dollars. The parties understood the clear, contractual language was not to compensate Appellant for services rendered but to pay Appellant for a potential period of lost

employment, particularly considering the Employment Agreements post-termination restrictive covenants found in Sections 7, 8 & 9 of the agreement.² This court should affirm.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND THIS ISSUE IS A MATTER OF LAW, RIPE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT, AND CORRECTLY APPLIED THE STANDARD FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

a. Summary Judgment was Appropriate

Appellant takes issue with the circuit court deciding these “exceptionally narrow issues” on summary judgment for two reasons. App. Brief at 12. First, Appellant claims that language in the circuit court’s order indicates that the circuit court was suffering from self-doubt when it applied the Act to the facts. App. Brief at 13. Second, Appellant claims that the circuit court was unsure of its interpretation of the General Assembly’s intent for the Act. Both claims are based on a single sentence in the circuit court’s Order that says “the Court contends that while the language in Section 41-10-10, et. seq. may be subject to another interpretation, the court believes that it is questionable whether the General Assembly intended for the Act to apply to the facts in this case.” R. p. 11. Appellant’s argument, however, leaves out the very next sentence of the Order, which explains the previous sentence – “To the contrary, the Court believes the purpose of the Act is to pay wages for services rendered in the past and not the future, and the wages sought here are for future wages not covered by the Act.” R. p. 11. When read together, it is clear the circuit court was not publicly expressing doubt about its decision. Instead, it was expressing its doubt about Appellant’s argument.

But even if these sentences do provide a window into the circuit court’s self-doubt, Appellant fails to explain what difference it makes. After highlighting the “questionable” language of the Order, Appellant fails to explain how further inquiry into the facts would “clarify the

² Although not addressed by the lower court and not necessary for a determination here, these sections give clues as to reasons for post-termination payments.

application of the law in this case.” App. Brief at 14. Similarly, after highlighting the Order’s “other interpretation” language, Appellant fails to explain how the circuit court misinterpreted the Act or what “other interpretation” advanced by the Appellant would have led to a different result. App. Brief at 15.

The narrow issues decided by the circuit court are prime examples of questions appropriately disposed of at summary judgment. “[T]he interpretation of a statute is a question of law.” Sparks v. Palmetto Hardwood, Inc., 406 S.C. 124, 128, 750 S.E.2d 61, 63 (2013) (quoting CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011). “Whether a contract’s language is ambiguous is a question of law for the court,” and the “[c]onstruction of a clear and unambiguous contract is a question of law for the court to determine.” Portrait Homes - S.C., LLC v. Pennsylvania Nat’l Mut. Cas. Ins. Co., 442 S.C. 515, 579, 900 S.E.2d 245, 280 (Ct. App. 2023), reh’g denied (Apr. 24, 2024) (internal citations omitted).

The circuit court decided the applicable language in the contract was unambiguous and applied that language to the Act. No further factual inquiry will change what Appellant’s salary was under the Employment Agreement, nor will further inquiry change the fact that post-termination payments are payments that would be remitted after Appellant stopped providing services to the Company. The parties do not disagree about these facts. The circuit court appropriately considered whether these facts fit the statutory definition of “wages” and correctly decided they do not.

b. The circuit court properly stated the General Assembly’s intent in its passage of the Act

Appellant cites two rules of statutory interpretation without explaining what bearing those rules have on the circuit court’s decision. App. Brief at 15. As correctly explained by the circuit court, and as previously explained by our Supreme Court, the purpose of the Act is to make sure

laborers are compensated for labor rendered, not to police post-termination compensation for highly paid executives. See Rice v. Multimedia, Inc., 318 S.C. 95, 456 S.E.2d 381 (1995) (holding employer policies related to commission payments to a high ranking sales executive are not a violation of public policy or subject to the Act). Mathis provides a binding explanation of the legislative intent behind the Act. See Mathis at 389 S.C. 299, 319 (2010). As Justice Pleicones analyzed, “rendered,” “recompensed,” and additional signifiers found throughout the Act illustrate the legislature was solely concerned with compensating employees for all past and completed labor upon termination. Id. This is consistent with the purpose of the Act, “to protect employees from the unjustified and willful retention of wages by the employer.” See Rice 318 S.C. 95 at 98; Mathis 389 S.C. 299 at 318.

Cases interpreting the Act’s predecessor statute are instructive of the General Assembly’s intent regarding the present iteration of the Act. See Futch v. McAllister Towing of Georgetown, Inc., 335 S.C. 598, 605, 518 S.E.2d 591, 594 (1999). Futch cited several cases applying a predecessor statute, among them is Wynne v. Seaboard Air Line Ry. The Court in Wynne declared,

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